

Fakulta zemědělská a technologická v Českých Budějovicích
Faculty of Agriculture and Technology University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice

# University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Agriculture and Technology

Department of Agroecosystems

# Ph.D. thesis

Integrated Approaches to Soil Management, Crop Resilience, and Sustainable Agriculture

Author: Sadia Babar Baloch, MSc.

Supervisor: doc. Ing. Jaroslav Bernas, Ph.D.

České Budějovice 2025

# **Declaration**

I declare that I am the author of this qualification	n thesis and that I used only sources
and literature displayed in the list of references in	n its preparation.
<b>&gt;</b>	
In České Budějovice on	Signature
	Signature

# **Abstrakt**

Degradace půdy, zejména acidifikace, představuje vážnou výzvu pro globální zemědělství, protože ohrožuje produktivitu plodin, půdní biodiverzitu a dlouhodobou udržitelnost. Zemědělci tradičně spoléhají na vápenec ke korekci kyselosti půdy, avšak jeho vysoké náklady a omezená dostupnost vyvolaly potřebu hledání alternativních půdních přísad. Tato disertační práce, založená na literárním přehledu, se zaměřuje především na potenciál dřevního popela jako udržitelné strategie hospodaření s půdou a současně využívá doplňující studie, které rozšiřují diskusi o další půdní přísady, mikrobiální procesy a biotechnologické inovace.

Dřevní popel, vedlejší produkt spalování biomasy, je bohatý na vápník, draslík, hořčík a stopové živiny. Jeho alkalická povaha z něj činí účinnou náhradu vápna, která dokáže neutralizovat kyselost půdy a zároveň dodat plodinám základní živiny. Tato práce syntetizuje poznatky z různých studií s cílem zhodnotit roli dřevního popela při zlepšování úrodnosti půdy, zvyšování výnosů plodin a podpoře ekologicky šetrného zemědělství. Zvláštní pozornost je věnována variabilitě složení dřevního popela, pufrační kapacitě půdy a rizikům spojeným s jeho nadměrnou aplikací či akumulací těžkých kovů.

Vedle hlavního zaměření na dřevní popel tato disertační práce zahrnuje také další články, které poskytují širší kontext pro udržitelné hospodaření s půdou. Přehled o rostlinných zbytcích zdůrazňuje jejich přínos k tvorbě půdní organické hmoty a koloběhu živin, zatímco jiný článek o biocharu hodnotí jeho roli při zlepšování půdní struktury, sekvestrace uhlíku a mikrobiální aktivity. Mikrobiální rozměr je zastoupen studiemi o těkavých organických sloučeninách (VOCs) produkovaných rhizobakteriemi, které mohou stimulovat růst rostlin a koloběh živin. Dále je zařazena studie dynamiky půdní organické hmoty (SOM), která se zaměřuje na kvantitativní metody hodnocení dlouhodobé úrodnosti, a přehled nástrojů založených na nukleových kyselinách, které představují moderní přístupy ke zvyšování odolnosti plodin vůči klimatickému stresu. Tyto články dohromady ukazují, jak lze dřevní popel začlenit do širších rámců hospodaření s půdou.

Z metodologického hlediska je práce založena na literární rešerši, nikoli na experimentu. Uplatňuje systematický přehled literatury, strukturovanou extrakci dat a tematickou syntézu napříč více recenzovanými studiemi. Každý článek byl analyzován

z hlediska cílů, metodologie a výsledků, následovaná byla srovnávací analýza k identifikaci synergií a omezení. Tento přístup umožnil jak detailní zaměření na dřevní popel, tak i širší pochopení jeho vztahu k jiným strategiím hospodaření s půdou.

Zjištění ukazují, že dřevní popel má značný potenciál jako levná a ekologická půdní přísada, avšak jeho aplikace vyžaduje pečlivé přizpůsobení konkrétním půdním podmínkám. Rostlinné zbytky a biochar doplňují dřevní popel obohacováním organické hmoty a zlepšováním půdní struktury, zatímco mikrobiální a molekulární inovace představují budoucí směry pro adaptivnější a odolnější zemědělské systémy. Napříč všemi tématy práce identifikuje významné mezery, včetně potřeby standardizovaných aplikačních protokolů, dlouhodobé terénní validace a integrovaných strategií, které kombinují chemické, biologické a technologické přístupy.

Závěrem tato práce tvrdí, že dřevní popel může hrát klíčovou roli v udržitelném zemědělství, pokud je aplikován odpovědně a v kombinaci s doplňujícími postupy. Začleněním dřevního popela do širších ekologických a technologických souvislostí přispívá práce k budování odolných agroekosystémů, snižování závislosti na chemických hnojivech a podpoře udržitelných cest k zajištění globální potravinové bezpečnosti.

**Klíčová slova:** dřevní popel, kyselost půdy, úrodnost půdy, biochar, rostlinné zbytky, udržitelné zemědělství

# **Abstract**

Soil degradation, particularly soil acidification, is a serious challenge for global agriculture, threatening crop productivity, soil biodiversity, and long-term sustainability. Farmers have traditionally relied on lime to correct soil acidity, yet its high cost and limited availability have raised the need for alternative amendments. This paper-based thesis focuses primarily on the potential of wood ash as a sustainable soil management strategy, while also drawing on complementary studies that broaden the discussion to other soil amendments, microbial processes, and biotechnological innovations.

Wood ash, a byproduct of biomass combustion, is rich in calcium, potassium, magnesium, and trace nutrients. Its alkaline nature makes it an effective liming substitute, capable of neutralizing soil acidity and supplying essential nutrients to crops. The thesis synthesizes findings from diverse studies to evaluate the role of wood ash in improving soil fertility, enhancing crop yields, and contributing to environmentally friendly agriculture. Special emphasis is placed on understanding the variability of wood ash composition, soil buffering capacity, and the risks of over-application or heavy metal accumulation.

Alongside the central focus on wood ash, this thesis incorporates additional papers that provide a broader context for sustainable soil management. A review on crop residues highlights their contribution to soil organic matter and nutrient cycling, while another on biochar evaluates its role in improving soil structure, carbon sequestration, and microbial activity. The microbial dimension is represented by studies on rhizobacterial volatile organic compounds (VOCs), which can stimulate plant growth and nutrient turnover. Further, a paper on soil organic matter (SOM) dynamics examines quantitative methods for assessing long-term fertility, and a review of nucleic acid-based tools explores modern approaches for enhancing crop resilience under climate stress. Together, these papers demonstrate how wood ash can be integrated into wider soil management frameworks.

Methodologically, the thesis is paper-based rather than experimental. It applies a systematic literature review, structured data extraction, and thematic synthesis across multiple peer-reviewed studies. Each article was analyzed in terms of objectives, methodology, and outcomes, followed by a comparative evaluation to identify synergies

and limitations. This approach allowed for both an in-depth focus on wood ash and a broader understanding of its relationship with other soil management strategies.

The findings indicate that wood ash holds significant promise as a low-cost, ecofriendly amendment, but its application requires careful calibration to site-specific soil properties. Crop residues and biochar complement wood ash by enriching organic matter and improving soil structure, while microbial and molecular innovations represent future directions for more adaptive and resilient farming systems. Across all topics, the thesis identifies important gaps, including the need for standardized application protocols, long-term field validation, and integrative strategies that combine chemical, biological, and technological approaches.

This work argues that wood ash can play a central role in sustainable agriculture when applied responsibly and supported by complementary practices. By situating wood ash within broader ecological and technological contexts, the thesis contributes to building resilient agroecosystems, reducing dependency on chemical fertilizers, and supporting sustainable pathways for global food security.

**Keywords:** wood ash, soil acidity, soil fertility, biochar, crop residues, sustainable agriculture

# Contents

Chapter 1: Background of Study	8
1.1 Introduction	9
1.2 Literature Review	10
1.2.1 Wood Ash as a Soil Amendment	10
1.2.2 Chemical Composition and Variability of Wood Ash	10
1.2.3 Soil pH and Buffering Capacity	10
1.2.4 Liming Needs and Alternatives	11
1.2.5 Effects of Wood Ash on Soil pH and Buffering Capacity	11
1.2.6 Wood Ash as a Lime Substitute for Soil Liming	11
1.2.7 Impacts of Wood Ash on Soil Organic Matter and Microbial Activity	y 11
1.2.8 Environmental Considerations and Application Guidelines	12
1.3 Research Objectives and Knowledge Gaps	13
Chapter 2: Methodology	15
2.1 Literature Search and Selection	16
2.2 Inclusion criteria were as follows:	16
2.3 Organization of the Review	16
2.4 Integration of Published Papers	16
2.5 Synthesis and Critical Analysis	17
Chapter 3: Results and Conclusions	18
References	21

Chanter	1.	Background	of Stu	<i>1</i> ,
Chabler	1.	Dackgrouna	oi siud	$\iota v$

**Chapter 1: Background of Study** 

#### 1.1 Introduction

Soil acidification is a critical global challenge that restricts agricultural productivity and disrupts soil ecosystem balance (Chaudhari et al., 2019). Driven by intensive nitrogen fertilization, acid rain, and mineral weathering, acidification decreases soil pH, limits nutrient availability, increases toxic aluminum and manganese concentrations, and suppresses beneficial microbial activity (Ameyu, 2019). Reversing these effects is vital for food security and environmental sustainability (Neina, 2019).

Wood ash, a byproduct of biomass combustion, represents a sustainable and cost-effective amendment for soil management. Its high alkalinity, derived from calcium oxide and potassium carbonate, makes it a promising alternative to conventional lime for neutralizing acidity while supplying essential nutrients such as phosphorus, potassium, calcium, and magnesium (Demeyer et al., 2001; Escudey et al., 2010). Applying wood ash also supports circular bioeconomy principles by recycling waste materials and reducing landfill disposal. However, its efficacy and safety depend strongly on appropriate dosage and soil characteristics (Baloch et al., 2024).

Accurate determination of soil buffering capacity—the soil's ability to resist pH change—is essential for safe wood ash application. Over-liming can lead to nutrient imbalances and microbial disruption (Ké & Dihé, 2024), emphasizing the importance of dose adjustment based on buffering capacity (Woodard & Bly, 2010; Gupta et al., 2019). The interaction between wood ash and soil organic matter (SOM) also influences nutrient cycling and carbon sequestration, varying with soil type, ash source, and environmental conditions (Chimdessa & Sori, 2020). Maintaining an optimal pH is essential for nutrient availability and microbial functioning (Kendawang et al., 2004).

This study aims to determine optimal wood ash application rates based on soil buffering capacity and to evaluate their effects on SOM and liming requirements. Building upon recent review papers (Baloch et al., 2024), it synthesizes scientific and practical insights on the use of wood ash and related organic amendments for improving soil health and managing acidity in sustainable agricultural systems.

#### 1.2 Literature Review

#### 1.2.1 Wood Ash as a Soil Amendment

Wood ash, the residue of burned wood, contains essential minerals such as calcium, potassium, magnesium, and phosphorus, contributing to its liming and fertilizing properties (Rolka et al., 2023). Its alkalinity (pH 10–12) effectively neutralizes soil acidity and enhances nutrient availability (Adotey et al., 2018; Luna & Larrea, 2024). The potassium content supports strong root and reproductive growth (Jian et al., 2025). However, excessive application can raise pH beyond optimal levels, leading to micronutrient deficiencies and salt stress in sensitive species (Rumpf et al., 2001; 'Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizospheric Microbes for Remediation of Saline Soils', 2019). Soil testing prior to application is therefore essential for safe and effective use (Jian et al., 2025).

## 1.2.2 Chemical Composition and Variability of Wood Ash

WThe chemical composition of wood ash depends on wood type, combustion conditions, and storage, with variable levels of oxides, carbonates, and nutrients (Ké & Dihé, 2024; Van Lith et al., 2008; Arshad et al., 2012). While offering a sustainable nutrient source, inconsistencies in composition present challenges due to potential heavy metals or uneven nutrient content (Baloch et al., 2024; Jalajakshi et al., 2024). Thus, detailed characterization and standardization are vital for its safe agricultural use.

# 1.2.3 Soil pH and Buffering Capacity

Soil pH is a major determinant of nutrient availability and microbial activity (Zhang et al., 2019; Cox & Koenig, 2010; Barrow & Hartemink, 2023; Breugem et al., 2024). Buffering capacity—the soil's ability to resist pH change—depends on clay minerals, organic matter, and carbonates ('Buffering Capacity of Soils in Mining Areas and Mitigation of Acid Mine Drainage Formation', 2023a, 2023b). Soils rich in clay and organic matter buffer pH changes more effectively, whereas sandy soils are more reactive. Understanding buffering capacity is essential for determining appropriate wood ash application rates (Liyanage et al., 2012).

# 1.2.4 Liming Needs and Alternatives

Liming neutralizes acidity to maintain optimal pH and nutrient balance (Abdi, 2024; Hayes et al., 2022; Enesi et al., 2023). Traditional lime sources include calcium and magnesium carbonates and hydroxides (Li et al., 2019). Alternatives such as wood ash ('Possible Use of Wood Ash and Compost for Improving Acid Tropical Soils', 2011; Lama & Sain, 2021), compost, biochar (Akmal et al., 2019), and industrial byproducts like basic slag (Rathoure, 2019) provide sustainable options. Gypsum can also improve soil structure and calcium supply without major pH changes (Anderson et al., 2020).

# 1.2.5 Effects of Wood Ash on Soil pH and Buffering Capacity

Wood ash increases soil pH through alkaline oxides and carbonates (Füzesi et al., 2015; Arshad et al., 2012). Moderate applications enhance nutrient availability and reduce aluminum toxicity (Bonfim-Silva et al., 2019; Paramisparam et al., 2021), but excessive rates risk over-alkalinization (Melese & Yli-Halla, 2016). Its carbonate reserves also strengthen buffering capacity, stabilizing soil pH against acidifying processes (Jian et al., 2025; Hamidi et al., 2021).

## 1.2.6 Wood Ash as a Lime Substitute for Soil Liming

Wood ash effectively substitutes lime due to its calcium and magnesium carbonates, with a neutralizing value of 25–60% compared to pure calcium carbonate (Manirakiza et al., 2025). It also supplies additional nutrients such as potassium and phosphorus (Bachmaier et al., 2021). However, composition variability and potential metal contamination (Neina et al., 2020; Wiklund, 2017; Barbosa et al., 2009) necessitate careful testing and standardized application (Scussel et al., 2022).

## 1.2.7 Impacts of Wood Ash on Soil Organic Matter and Microbial Activity

Wood ash affects SOM and microbial dynamics primarily through pH modification and nutrient enrichment (Baloch et al., 2024; Błońska et al., 2023). Moderate ash application enhances bacterial activity and decomposition rates (Bang-Andreasen et al., 2017a), though effects on organic carbon vary (Zhao et al., 2022; Bougnom et al., 2020). High application rates may reduce microbial diversity and favor alkaliphilic taxa (Bang-Andreasen et al., 2017b; Noyce et al., 2016; Cruz-Paredes et al., 2021).

# 1.2.8 Environmental Considerations and Application Guidelines

While wood ash from untreated wood typically contains low metal concentrations, composition varies with feedstock and combustion conditions (Maresca et al., 2018; Pitman, 2006). Over-application can cause heavy metal accumulation and leaching (Beauchemin et al., 2015; Dědina et al., 2022; Romdhane et al., 2021). Only ash from untreated wood should be used (Yanitch et al., 2020). Safe application requires comprehensive soil and ash analysis (ASH, 2013; Kamal & Mahmood, 2024) and adherence to recommended rates and handling practices to prevent runoff or contamination (Baloch et al., 2024; James et al., 2012).

## 1.3 Research Objectives and Knowledge Gaps

This study aims to evaluate integrated approaches to soil management, crop resilience, and sustainable agriculture by synthesizing evidence across chemical, organic, biological, and molecular strategies. While wood ash is a central focus for its liming effect and nutrient contributions, the thesis also incorporates complementary practices such as crop residue management, biochar application, microbial innovations, and nucleic acid—based tools. Together, these approaches are assessed for their potential to improve soil fertility, strengthen crop resilience, and reduce dependence on chemical inputs.

- To evaluate the effectiveness of wood ash as a soil amendment for acidity management, fertility enhancement, and sustainable nutrient supply.
- To examine the role of crop residues and biochar in enriching soil organic matter, improving soil structure, and enhancing soil nutrient cycling.
- To explore microbial innovations, particularly rhizobacterial volatile organic compounds (VOCs), in supporting soil health and nutrient dynamics.
- To assess nucleic acid-based molecular tools for improving crop resilience under climate variability.
- To integrate chemical, organic, biological, and molecular strategies into a comprehensive soil management framework for long-term sustainability.

## **Knowledge Gaps Identified**

- Limited research on site-specific integration of soil amendments (wood ash, biochar, residues) tailored to soil buffering capacity and fertility needs.
- Insufficient long-term studies on combined impacts of organic inputs and microbial processes on soil organic matter stability and nutrient cycling.
- Lack of standardized guidelines for safe and effective wood ash application across diverse soil types.

- Few comparative evaluations of integrated soil management strategies that combine chemical, biological, and molecular approaches.
- Limited application of modern molecular tools in practical field-based soil management frameworks.

**Chapter 2: Methodology** 

#### 2.1 Literature Search and Selection

This thesis adopts a comprehensive literature review approach, combined with the author's contributions to several peer-reviewed review articles and collaborative research studies. The purpose of the methodology was to systematically collect, analyze, and synthesize existing scientific evidence on the role of wood ash and complementary soil amendments in improving soil fertility, reducing soil acidity, and enhancing agricultural productivity. Relevant publications were identified through searches in major international databases, including ScienceDirect, Web of Science, Scopus, and Google Scholar. A combination of keywords was used, such as wood ash, soil amendment, soil acidity, liming effect, crop productivity, soil organic matter, biochar, rhizosphere, and sustainable agriculture.

#### 2.2 Inclusion criteria were as follows:

- Peer-reviewed articles, review papers, and book chapters published in English.
- Studies reporting chemical, physical, or biological effects of wood ash and related amendments.
- Comparative studies where wood ash was evaluated against lime or other soil improvement strategies.
- Both short-term and long-term field or experimental studies relevant to soil fertility and sustainability.
- Priority was given to recent publications and those from high-impact journals

## 2.3 Organization of the Review

The selected literature was organized into thematic areas to highlight key aspects of soil management:

- Wood ash application for fertility enhancement and acidity management.
- Crop residue management and contributions to soil health.
- Soil organic matter (SOM) dynamics and evaluation methods.
- Rhizosphere engineering and microbial innovations for crop resilience.
- Biochar and other amendments for sustainable soil improvement.

## 2.4 Integration of Published Papers

This thesis is closely linked to published review papers and book chapters in which the author actively contributed. These publications form the foundation of Chapter 3 (Results and Discussion). Each paper followed a structured review or synthesis approach with a specific thematic focus:

- 1 Baloch et al. (2024), Chemosphere: Reviewed wood ash application for crop production, soil acidity reduction, and contaminated soil remediation. Methodology included systematic collection of experimental and field studies and comparative analysis with lime and other amendments.
- 2 Baloch et al. (2024), Heliyon: Focused on rhizobacterial volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and their role in nutrient cycling and soil health. Literature was screened to summarize microbial contributions to agricultural sustainability.
- Murindangabo et al. (2023), Agronomy: Applied quantitative approaches to review and evaluate methods for assessing SOM dynamics. Methodology emphasized studies testing SOM measurement models and their applications.
- 4 Saeed et al. (2024), International Journal of Biological Macromolecules: Reviewed nucleic acid innovations for rhizosphere engineering and crop resilience under climate change. Literature synthesis included recent molecular advances and applied case studies.
- 5 Ali et al. (2024), IntechOpen Book Chapter: Reviewed biochar applications for improving soil quality and sustainability, drawing from experimental and field-based studies in diverse soils and cropping systems.

#### 2.5 Synthesis and Critical Analysis

All selected literature and the above publications were critically analyzed to:

- Assess the benefits and challenges of using wood ash and complementary amendments.
- Compare findings across different soils, climates, and management practices.
- Highlight environmental considerations, such as heavy metal accumulation and nutrient leaching.
- Identify persistent knowledge gaps and directions for future research.

Chapter 3: Results and Conclusion	Chapter	<i>3:</i>	Results	and	Conclusion
-----------------------------------	---------	-----------	---------	-----	------------

**Chapter 3: Results and Conclusions** 

This dissertation integrates six peer-reviewed studies that collectively address sustainable soil management through chemical, biological, and molecular innovations. The primary focus lies on the evaluation of wood ash as an alternative to lime in acidic soils, supplemented by complementary research on crop residues, microbial interactions, soil organic matter dynamics, biochar, and nucleic acid-based approaches for improving soil fertility and crop resilience.

The first-author study on wood ash demonstrated its significant potential to neutralize soil acidity and enhance crop productivity through its high calcium, potassium, and magnesium content. Comparative analyses revealed that while wood ash effectively raised soil pH and improved nutrient availability, its variable composition and possible trace metal content necessitate site-specific assessment and cautious application. The study emphasized that integrating wood ash into sustainable management frameworks could reduce dependence on conventional liming materials while promoting circular bioeconomy practices by utilizing agricultural and forestry by-products.

The second paper on crop residue management highlighted the central role of organic recycling in restoring soil organic matter and improving physical structure. Residue retention and incorporation were shown to enhance microbial activity, nutrient cycling, and soil aggregation, thereby strengthening the foundation of long-term soil fertility. When combined with biochar or compost, crop residues provided synergistic benefits, supporting sustainable productivity and minimizing environmental degradation.

The third study explored rhizobacterial volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and their contribution to soil health. The review confirmed that specific VOCs stimulate plant growth, improve nutrient uptake, and suppress soil-borne pathogens, underscoring the importance of microbial-mediated nutrient cycling. These findings support the integration of microbiological insights into soil improvement strategies, bridging the gap between traditional soil amendments and next-generation biotechnologies.

The fourth study applied quantitative models to assess soil organic matter (SOM) dynamics, identifying key indicators for sustainable soil monitoring. It emphasized the necessity of harmonized analytical methods and long-term data to understand carbon

stabilization and nutrient turnover under diverse management regimes. Complementarily, the fifth study on nucleic acid-based innovations illustrated how DNA and RNA technologies can be used to engineer rhizosphere function and enhance crop tolerance to abiotic stress. Such molecular advancements present promising pathways for climate-adaptive agriculture and precision soil management.

Finally, the book chapter on biochar demonstrated its broad applications in improving soil structure, increasing nutrient retention, and mitigating greenhouse gas emissions. Evidence across field and laboratory studies confirmed biochar's role as a multifunctional amendment, capable of enhancing both soil quality and ecosystem sustainability when used in combination with other organic inputs.

Collectively, the results affirm that sustainable soil management cannot depend on a single amendment or technology. Instead, the integration of chemical (wood ash, biochar), biological (microbial VOCs), and molecular (nucleic acid innovations) approaches provides the most effective path toward resilient agroecosystems. These findings underscore that restoring soil fertility and maintaining productivity require multidisciplinary strategies grounded in both traditional and modern scientific practices.

This thesis contributes to advancing the scientific and practical understanding of sustainable soil management. It confirms the value of wood ash as a low-cost liming alternative, highlights the role of organic and microbial processes in nutrient cycling, and points toward molecular tools as future drivers of innovation. Together, these approaches establish a holistic framework for improving soil health, reducing reliance on synthetic inputs, and supporting global food security within environmentally responsible agricultural systems.

.

#### References

- Abdi, B. T. (2024). Studies on the effects of liming acidic soil on improving soil physicochemical properties and yield of crops: A review. *Middle East Research Journal of Agriculture and Food Science*, 4(03), 95–103.
- Adotey, N., Harrell, D. L., & Weatherford, W. P. (2018). Characterization and Liming Effect of Wood Ash Generated from a Biomass-Fueled Commercial Power Plant. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 49(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2017.1421643
- Akmal, M., Maqbool, Z., Khan, K. S., Hussain, Q., Ijaz, S. S., Iqbal, M., Aziz, I., Hussain, A., Abbas, M. S., & Rafa, H. U. (2019). Integrated use of biochar and compost to improve soil microbial activity, nutrient availability, and plant growth in arid soil. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 12(7). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-019-4414-0
- Ameyu, T. (2019). A review on the potential effect of lime on soil properties and crop productivity improvements. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*, 9(2), 17–23.
- Anderson, G. C., Pathan, S., Easton, J., Hall, D. J., & Sharma, R. (2020). Short-and long-term effects of lime and gypsum applications on acid soils in a water-limited environment: 2. soil chemical properties. *Agronomy*, *10*(12), 1987.
- Arshad, M. A., Soon, Y. K., Azooz, R. H., Lupwayi, N. Z., & Chang, S. X. (2012). Soil and Crop Response to Wood Ash and Lime Application in Acidic Soils. *Agronomy Journal*, 104(3), 715–721. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2011.0355
- ASH, W. I. W. (2013). Best Management Practices for Wood Ash as Agricultural Soil Amendment. *Mercury 1*. https://secure.caes.uga.edu/extension/publications/files/pdf/B%201142\_3.PDF

- Bachmaier, H., Kuptz, D., & Hartmann, H. (2021). Wood ashes from grate-fired heat and power plants: Evaluation of nutrient and heavy metal contents. *Sustainability*, *13*(10), 5482.
- Baloch, S. B., Ali, S., Bernas, J., Moudrỳ, J., Konvalina, P., Mushtaq, Z., Murindangabo, Y. T., Onyebuchi, E. F., Baloch, F. B., & Ahmad, M. (2024).
  Wood ash application for crop production, amelioration of soil acidity and contaminated environments. *Chemosphere*, 357, 141865.
- Bang-Andreasen, T., Nielsen, J. T., Voriskova, J., Heise, J., Rønn, R., Kjøller, R., Hansen, H. C., & Jacobsen, C. S. (2017a). Wood ash induced pH changes strongly affect soil bacterial numbers and community composition. *Frontiers* in Microbiology, 8, 1400.
- Bang-Andreasen, T., Nielsen, J. T., Voriskova, J., Heise, J., Rønn, R., Kjøller, R., Hansen, H. C., & Jacobsen, C. S. (2017b). Wood ash induced pH changes strongly affect soil bacterial numbers and community composition. *Frontiers* in Microbiology, 8, 1400.
- Barbosa, R., Lapa, N., Boavida, D., Lopes, H., Gulyurtlu, I., & Mendes, B. (2009). Co-combustion of coal and sewage sludge: Chemical and ecotoxicological properties of ashes. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *170*(2–3), 902–909.
- Barrow, N. J., & Hartemink, A. E. (2023). The effects of pH on nutrient availability depend on both soils and plants. *Plant and Soil*, 487(1–2), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-023-05960-5
- Beauchemin, S., Clemente, J. S., MacKinnon, T., Tisch, B., Lastra, R., Smith, D., & Kwong, J. (2015). Metal Leaching in Mine Tailings: Short-Term Impact of Biochar and Wood Ash Amendments. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 44(1), 275–285. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2014.04.0195

- Błońska, E., Prażuch, W., Boroń, P., & Lasota, J. (2023). Effects of wood ash on the soil properties and fungal community structure in a beech forest in Poland. *Geoderma Regional*, 34, e00676.
- Bonfim-Silva, E. M., de Amorim Vieira, A. P., Damasceno, A. P. A. B., José, J. V., Dourado, L. G. A., & da Silva, T. J. A. (2019). Growth and development of cowpea under wood ash doses and liming. *Brazilian Journal of Development*, 5(12), 28701–28718.
- Bougnom, B. P., Nemete, A. M., Mbassa, G. F., Onomo, P. E., & Etoa, F.-X. (2020). Effects of cattle manure wood-ash compost on some chemical, physical and microbial properties of two acid tropical soils. *International Journal of Advances in Scientific Research and Engineering*, 6(4), 74–82.
- Breugem, A., Kros, H., & De Vries, W. (2024). *Impacts of pH on mechanisms and rates of carbon and nitrogen mineralisation: A review*. Wageningen Environmental Research. https://doi.org/10.18174/653235
- Buffering Capacity of Soils in Mining Areas and Mitigation of Acid Mine Drainage Formation. (2023a). In R. Lusunzi, E. Fosso-Kankeu, & F. Waanders, *Hybridized Technologies for the Treatment of Mining Effluents* (1st ed., pp. 119–145). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119896920.ch5
- Buffering Capacity of Soils in Mining Areas and Mitigation of Acid Mine Drainage Formation. (2023b). In R. Lusunzi, E. Fosso-Kankeu, & F. Waanders, *Hybridized Technologies for the Treatment of Mining Effluents* (1st ed., pp. 119–145). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119896920.ch5
- Chaudhari, D., Vista, S. P., Ghimire, P., & Devkota, C. (2019). Influence of agricultural lime in alleviating acidity level of various acid soils. *World Journal of Agriculture and Soil Science*, 3(3), 1–6.

- Chimdessa, D., & Sori, G. (2020). Integrated Effects of Vermi-compost and NPS Fertilizer Rates on Soil Chemical Properties and Maize Production in Bedele District, Western Oromia. *Plant*, 8(4), 115. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.plant.20200804.15
- Cox, L., & Koenig, R. (2010). Solutions to soil problems: II. High pH (alkaline soil). https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/extension\_curall/955/
- Cruz-Paredes, C., Bang-Andreasen, T., Christensen, S., Ekelund, F., Frøslev, T. G., Jacobsen, C. S., Johansen, J. L., Mortensen, L. H., Rønn, R., & Vestergård, M. (2021). Bacteria respond stronger than fungi across a steep wood ash-driven pH gradient. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*, 4, 781844.
- Dědina, M., Jarošíková, A., Plíva, P., & Dubskỳ, M. (2022). The effect of ash admixture on compost quality and availability of nutrients. *Sustainability*, *14*(3), 1640.
- Demeyer, A., Nkana, J. V., & Verloo, M. G. (2001). Characteristics of wood ash and influence on soil properties and nutrient uptake: An overview. *Bioresource Technology*, 77(3), 287–295.
- Enesi, R. O., Dyck, M., Chang, S., Thilakarathna, M. S., Fan, X., Strelkov, S., & Gorim, L. Y. (2023). Liming remediates soil acidity and improves crop yield and profitability—A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Agronomy*, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fagro.2023.1194896
- Escudey, M., De La Fuente, P., Antilén, M., & Molina, M. (2010). Effect of ash from forest fires on phosphorus availability, transport, chemical forms, and content in volcanic soils. *Environmental Chemistry*, 7(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.1071/en09067

- Füzesi, I., Heil, B., & Kovács, G. (2015). Effects of wood ash on the chemical properties of soil and crop vitality in small plot experiments. *Acta Silv. Lign. Hung*, 11(1), 55–64.
- Hamidi, N. H., Ahmed, O. H., Omar, L., Ch'ng, H. Y., Johan, P. D., Paramisparam, P., & Jalloh, M. B. (2021). Acid soils nitrogen leaching and buffering capacity mitigation using charcoal and sago bark ash. *Sustainability*, *13*(21), 11808.
- Hayes, R. C., Condon, J. R., & Li, G. D. (2022). The role of liming in improving soil health. https://www.cabidigitallibrary.org/doi/pdf/10.5555/20220479364
- Jalajakshi, D. S., Nagarajappa, D. P., & Bhagyashree, H. N. (2024). Integrated Evaluation of Chemical Properties and Heavy Metal Levels in Agricultural Soils for Sustainable Environmental Management. *IJSAT-International Journal on Science and Technology*, 15(4). https://www.ijsat.org/research-paper.php?id=1123
- James, A. K., Thring, R. W., Helle, S., & Ghuman, H. S. (2012). Ash management review—Applications of biomass bottom ash. *Energies*, 5(10), 3856–3873.
- Jian, C., Hamamoto, T., Inoue, C., Chien, M.-F., Naganuma, H., Mori, T., Sawada, A., Hidaka, M., Setoyama, H., & Makino, T. (2025). Effects of Wood Ash Fertilizer on Element Dynamics in Soil Solution and Crop Uptake. *Agronomy*, 15(5), 1097.
- Kamal, A., & Mahmood, T. (2024). APPLICATIONS OF WOOD ASH BY MATCH-ING ITS CHARACTERISTICS WITH END-USER QUALITY REQUIRE-MENTS: A CASE STUDY. *Detritus*, 28, 48.
- Ké, A., & Dihé, D. (2024). Physico-Chemical Characterization of Wood Ash for Agronomic Purposes. *Journal of Agricultural Chemistry and Environment*, 13(2), 235–250.

- Kendawang, J. J., Tanaka, S., Ishihara, J., Shibata, K., Sabang, J., Ninomiya, I., Ishizuka, S., & Sakurai, K. (2004). Effects of shifting cultivation on soil ecosystems in Sarawak, Malaysia: I. Slash and burning at Balai ringin and Sabal experimental sites and effect on soil organic matter. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 50(5), 677–687. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2004.10408524
- Lama, I., & Sain, D. (2021). A case study review of wood ash land application programs in North America. *TAPPI Journal*, 20(2), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.32964/tj20.2.111
- Li, Y., Cui, S., Chang, S. X., & Zhang, Q. (2019). Liming effects on soil pH and crop yield depend on lime material type, application method and rate, and crop species: A global meta-analysis. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 19(3), 1393–1406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-018-2120-2
- Liyanage, L., Jayakody, A. N., Wijayatunga, W. M. S., & Gunaratne, G. P. (2012).

  Feasibility of using soil pH buffering capacity for dolomite recommendation
  for tea growing soils in Sri Lanka. https://www.cabidigitalli-brary.org/doi/full/10.5555/20193224713
- Luna, E., & Larrea, C. (2024). Addressing Soil Acidity and Enhancing Soil Health. https://www.iisd.org/system/files/2024-10/soil-acidity-health-east-africa.pdf
- Manirakiza, E., Gagnon, B., & Ziadi, N. (2025). Soil and plant cations as affected by application of wood ash, biochar, and papermill biosolids. *Agronomy Journal*, 117(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/agj2.21714
- Maresca, A., Hyks, J., & Astrup, T. F. (2018). Long-term leaching of nutrients and contaminants from wood combustion ashes. *Waste Management*, 74, 373–383.
- Melese, A., & Yli-Halla, M. (2016). Effects of applications of lime, wood ash, manure and mineral P fertilizer on the inorganic P fractions and other selected soil

- chemical properties on acid soil of Farta District, Northwestern highland of Ethiopia. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 11(2), 87–99.
- Neina, D. (2019). The Role of Soil pH in Plant Nutrition and Soil Remediation. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2019, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5794869
- Neina, D., Faust, S., & Joergensen, R. G. (2020). Characterization of charcoal and firewood ash for use in African peri-urban agriculture. *Chemical and Biologi*cal Technologies in Agriculture, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40538-019-0171-2
- Noyce, G. L., Fulthorpe, R., Gorgolewski, A., Hazlett, P., Tran, H., & Basiliko, N. (2016). Soil microbial responses to wood ash addition and forest fire in managed Ontario forests. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 107, 368–380.
- Paramisparam, P., Ahmed, O. H., Omar, L., Ch'ng, H. Y., Johan, P. D., & Hamidi, N. H. (2021). Co-application of charcoal and wood ash to improve potassium availability in tropical mineral acid soils. *Agronomy*, 11(10), 2081.
- Performance of Pond Ash and Rice Husk Ash in Clay: A Comparative Study. (2019).

  In D. Gupta, A. Kumar, V. Kumar, A. Priyadarshee, & V. Sharma, *Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering* (pp. 145–153). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-7017-5 17
- Pitman, R. M. (2006). Wood ash use in forestry–a review of the environmental impacts. *Forestry*, 79(5), 563–588.
- Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizospheric Microbes for Remediation of Saline Soils. (2019). In T. Fatima & N. K. Arora, *Microorganisms for Sustainability* (pp. 121–146). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9664-0\_5

- Possible Use of Wood Ash and Compost for Improving Acid Tropical Soils. (2011). In B. P. Bougnom, B. A. Knapp, F.-X. Etoa, & H. Insam, *Recycling of Biomass Ashes* (pp. 87–105). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-19354-5\_7
- Rathoure, K. P. (2019). Amelioration Technology for Agricultural Efficiency: Biochar and Compost Amendments for Soil sustainability. In *Amelioration Technology* for Soil Sustainability (pp. 13–31). IGI Global. https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/amelioration-technology-for-agricultural-efficiency/225942
- Rolka, E., Żołnowski, A. C., Wyszkowski, M., Zych, W., & Skorwider-Namiotko, A. (2023). Wood Biomass Ash (WBA) from the Heat Production Process as a Mineral Amendment for Improving Selected Soil Properties. *Energies*, 16(13), 5110. https://doi.org/10.3390/en16135110
- Romdhane, L., Ebinezer, L. B., Panozzo, A., Barion, G., Dal Cortivo, C., Radhouane, L., & Vamerali, T. (2021). Effects of soil amendment with wood ash on transpiration, growth, and metal uptake in two contrasting maize (Zea mays L.) hybrids to drought tolerance. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, 661909.
- Rumpf, S., Ludwig, B., & Mindrup, M. (2001). Effect of wood ash on soil chemistry of a pine stand in Northern Germany. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, *164*(5), 569. https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2624(200110)164:5<569::aid-ipln569>3.0.co;2-e
- Scussel, R., Feltrin, A. C., Angioletto, E., Galvani, N. C., Fagundes, M. Í., Bernardin, A. M., Feuser, P. E., De Ávila, R. A. M., & Pich, C. T. (2022). Ecotoxic, gen-

- otoxic, and cytotoxic potential of leachate obtained from chromated copper arsenate-treated wood ashes. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(27), 41247–41260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-18413-2
- Van Lith, S. C., Jensen, P. A., Frandsen, F. J., & Glarborg, P. (2008). Release to the Gas Phase of Inorganic Elements during Wood Combustion. Part 2: Influence of Fuel Composition. *Energy & Fuels*, 22(3), 1598–1609. https://doi.org/10.1021/ef060613i
- Wiklund, J. (2017). Effects of wood ash on soil fertility and plant performance in southwestern Kenya. SLU, Dept. of Soil and Environment. https://stud.epsilon.slu.se/12833/1/wiklund\_j\_171102.pdf
- Woodard, H., & Bly, A. (2010). Soil pH Change and Crop Responses with Long-Term Liming Applications in Tilled and Untilled Systems. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 41(14), 1723–1739. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2010.489136
- Yanitch, A., Kadri, H., Frenette-Dussault, C., Joly, S., Pitre, F. E., & Labrecque, M. (2020). A four-year phytoremediation trial to decontaminate soil polluted by wood preservatives: Phytoextraction of arsenic, chromium, copper, dioxins and furans. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 22(14), 1505–1514. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2020.1785387
- Zhang, Y.-Y., Wu, W., & Liu, H. (2019). Factors affecting variations of soil pH in different horizons in hilly regions. *PLOS ONE*, 14(6), e0218563. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218563
- Zhao, H., Ahmad, S., Wu, N., Suo, L., Tian, X., Zhao, Y., Yu, J., Wang, L., & Si, B. (2022). Effect of straw and wood ash on soil carbon sequestration and bacterial community in a calcareous soil. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13, 926506.